# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-13-2011

# A & B Irr. Dist. V. IDWR Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39196

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Nature of the Case

The A&B Irrigation District ("A&B") appeals the district court's *Amended Order on Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike* issued on August 29, 2011. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 167.

#### II. Course of Proceedings / Statement of Facts

On May 4, 2010, the district court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order on*Petition for Judicial Review reversing and remanding the Director's finding of no material injury for application of the appropriate burden of proof and evidentiary standard.<sup>1</sup> On November 2, 2010, the court denied petitions for reconsideration filed by IGWA and the City of Pocatello and reaffirmed its previous decision remanding the case to the Idaho Department of Water Resources ("IDWR" or "Department").

On November 10, 2010, A&B requested confirmation that IDWR would proceed with the remand as ordered by the district court. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 152. Unfortunately, and without any legal basis, the Department refused to follow the court's ordered remand, forcing A&B to seek further judicial relief. *See Order Granting Motion to Enforce in Part and Denying Motion in Part* (Minidoka County Dist. Ct., Fifth Jud. Dist., Case No. CV-2009-647) (February 15, 2011). After the district court ordered the agency to comply with the remand order, it took the Department over 60 days to issue the *Final Order on Remand Regarding A&B Irrigation District Delivery Call* (April 27, 2011). Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 3.

On May 11, 2011, A&B requested IDWR to reconsider the final agency order. See I.C. § 67-5246(4) ("any party may file a motion for reconsideration of any final order issued by the agency head within fourteen (14) days of the service date of that order.") and IDAPA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See A&B Irr. Dist. v. IDWR et al. (Minidoka County Dist. Ct., Fifth Jud. Dist., Case No. CV-2009-647). The district court's decision is presently on appeal to the Idaho Supreme Court in Docket No. 38403-2011. However, no party appealed or requested a stay of the court's ordered remand to IDWR.

37.01.01.740.02.a ("Any party may file a petition for reconsideration of [a] final order within fourteen (14) days of the service date of this order.").

Under the APA, the Department had 21 days to "issue a written order *disposing of the petition*." I.C. § 67-5246(4) (emphasis added). Exactly 21 days later, on June 1, 2011, the Director issued an *Order Granting Petition for Reconsideration to Allow Time for Further Review*. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 33. In that order, the Director extended the mandatory 21-day timeframe for a decision on A&B's petition to June 9, 2011. *Id*. The Director stated A&B's petition was granted "for the sole purpose of allowing additional time for the Department to respond to the Petition." *Id*. at 33-34. The Director missed his self-created deadline and again pushed out the due date by an amended order, this time to June 30, 2011. <sup>2</sup> *Id*. at 37.

Since the Director failed to "dispose of" A&B's petition for reconsideration within 21 days as required by law, A&B exercised its statutory right to appeal the Director's decision to district court. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 26. Three days later, on June 30, 2011, the Director attempted to enter an *Order Regarding Petition for Reconsideration* along with an *Amended Final Order on Remand Regarding the A&B Irrigation District Delivery*. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 48, 67. The amended final order purported to supersede the Director's April 27, 2011 *Final Order*. *Id.* at 67.

IDWR filed a *Motion to Dismiss* A&B's petition for judicial review. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 40. A&B responded to IDWR's motion and filed a motion to strike the *Affidavit of Chris M*. *Bromley. Id.* at 107, 118.

On August 11, 2011, the district court issued its *Order on Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike*. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 155. The district court later amended the order and issued a Rule

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Importantly, the timelines set by the Director in both the June 1<sup>st</sup> and June 9<sup>th</sup> orders were his own, not tied to any statute or regulation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As explained in this opening brief, the Director had no statutory authority to issue these decisions on June 30, 2011, hence they are *ultra vires* and void as a matter of law. See infra, Argument Part IV.

54(b) certificate. *Id.* at 167. The court granted IDWR's motion to dismiss, finding the term "disposed of" in section 67-5246 to be ambiguous and holding that the agency was not required to decide the merits of A&B's petition for reconsideration within 21 days. *Id.* at 171, 174. A&B appealed the district court's decision. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 178.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the district court erred by ignoring the plain meaning of the Idaho APA in concluding that IDWR did not have to dispose of A&B's petition for reconsideration within twenty-one (21) days as required by Idaho Code § 67-5246 and IDAPA 37.01.740.02.a?
- B. Whether the petition for reconsideration was denied as a matter of law when the Director failed to dispose of the petition within 21 days as required by law?
- C. Whether the district court erred in dismissing A&B's petition for judicial review of the Director's April 27, 2011 *Final Order on Remand Regarding A&B Irrigation District Delivery Call*?
- D. Whether the district court erred in denying A&B's motion to strike the *Affidavit of Chris M. Bromley*?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

IDWR moved to dismiss A&B's petition on the grounds that the April 27, 2011 *Final Order* had been superseded and was no longer "ripe" for judicial review. Relying upon its interpretation of section 67-5246, the district court granted IDWR's motion to dismiss. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Doe v. Boy Scouts of America*, 148 Idaho 427, 430, 224 P.3d 494, 497 (2009). Whether the district court had jurisdiction over this action is a question of law over which this Court exercises free

review. City of Eagle v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources, 150 Idaho 449, 451, 247 P.3d 1037, 1039 (2011).

A&B moved to strike the *Affidavit of Chris M. Bromley* and its exhibits on the basis that the Director's actions taken after A&B had filed a petition for judicial review violated section 67-5246 and therefore were *ultra vires* and void as a matter of law. The district court denied A&B's motion to strike based upon its ruling on IDWR's motion to dismiss. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 174. The decision to grant or deny a motion to strike is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Sprinkler Irr. Company v. John Deere Ins. Company, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 691, 696, 85 P.3d 667, 672 (2004).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issues on appeal concern the interpretation of a straight forward and unambiguous statute. The Idaho APA contains precise and well-defined timelines. After an agency issues a final order, section 67-5246 allows a party to file a petition for reconsideration within 14 days. If a petition is filed and the agency head fails to "dispose of" the petition by written order within 21 days, the petition is deemed denied by operation of law. See I.C. § 67-5246(4), (5). IDWR's rules of procedure contain similar requirements and deadlines. See IDAPA 37.01.01.740.02.a.

Rather than acting on the merits of A&B's petition, the Director unilaterally enlarged the Department's statutory deadline twice, claiming the right to "grant" A&B's petition for reconsideration, but only "for the sole purpose of allowing additional time for the Department to respond to the Petition." Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 34, 37. Thereafter, after "granting" the petition, the Director then denied it. 4 *Id.* at 64. Yet, the agency had no authority to grant itself these unilateral extensions because when IDWR failed to "dispose of" A&B's petition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Director granted A&B's petition in part to correct his erroneous characterization of an IGWA witness as being a member of the A&B board of directors. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 64.

reconsideration within 21 days the petition was deemed denied by operation of Idaho law. The district court wrongly affirmed IDWR's procedure on the theory that section 67-5246 and the term "dispose of" was ambiguous. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 171. The court's interpretation is erroneous as a matter of law and should be reversed on appeal.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. The Term "Disposed of" in the Idaho APA is Unambiguous.

The district court found the term "disposed of" in section 67-5246 ambiguous on the basis that it was "not a defined term under IDAPA" and "reasonable minds might differ as to its interpretation, making it subject to conflicting interpretations." Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 171. The court erred as a matter of law.

The objective of statutory construction is to derive the intent of the legislature. *Kelso v. State Ins. Fund*, 134 Idaho 130, 134, 997 P.2d 591, 595 (2000). Statutory interpretation must begin with the literal words of the statute and those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning. *Harrison v. Binnion*, 147 Idaho 645, 649, 214 P.3d 631, 635 (2009); *State v. Gill*, 150 Idaho 183, 185, 244 P.3d 1269, 1271 (Ct App. 2010) (language of statute is to be given its plain, obvious, and rational meaning). If the statute is not ambiguous, a court must not construe it and follow the law as written. 147 Idaho at 649, 214 P.3d at 635; *see also, Idaho Power Co. v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources*, 151 Idaho 266, 255 P.3d 1152, 1158 (2011). Contrary to the district court's interpretation, "dispose or disposed of" is unambiguous, therefore statutory construction is unnecessary and courts must apply the term's plain meaning.

The Court made the same finding for IDWR's rule of procedure (IDAPA 37.01.01.0740.02.a).

"Dispose of" is an expression and a term of art with a settled legal meaning often used and understood by the courts and practitioners. The term has a "plain, obvious, and rational meaning," defined as follows:

To alienate or direct the ownership of property, as disposition by will. *Used also of the determination of suits. To exercise finally, in any manner, one's power of control over;* to pass into the control of someone else; to alienate, relinquish, part with, or get rid of; to put out of the way; *to finish with*; to bargain away. Often used in restricted sense of "sale" only, or so restricted by context.

Black's Law Dictionary, 6th ed. (1991) (emphasis added).6

As used in Idaho's APA, the term "dispose of" has one meaning, to finally determine or finish with. I.C. § 67-5246(4), (5). After all, when the agency "disposes of" a party's petition for reconsideration, that action triggers the deadline for taking the next step, filing a petition for judicial review in district court. Similarly, failing to "dispose of" a petition for reconsideration within 21 days operates as a denial by operation of law, likewise triggering the deadline for a petition for judicial review. The timeframes are precise and ensure timely and efficient judicial review.

Although the term is not defined in Idaho's APA or IDWR's regulations, "dispose of" has been found to have a plain, obvious and unambiguous legal meaning. The Idaho Supreme Court in *Evans State Bank v. Evans* equated the term "disposes of" with "determines":

A final judgment has been defined to be one which *disposes of* the subject-matter of the controversy or *determines* the litigation between the parties on its merits.

30 Idaho 703, 167 P. 1165, 1166 (1917) (emphasis added); see also, Williams v. State Bd. of Real Estate Appraisers, 149 Idaho 675, 678, 239 P.3d 780, 783 (2010) (citing Evans).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Idaho Supreme Court has previously applied definitions in Black's Law Dictionary when interpreting undefined terms in the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act. See Williams v. State Bd. of Real Estate Appraisers, 149 Idaho 675, 678, 239 P.3d 780, 783 (2010) (referencing Black's Law Dictionary's definition of "interlocutory order" in I.C. § 67-5271).

Similarly, in *Williams v. State Bd. of Real Estate Appraisers* the Idaho Supreme Court also equated the term "dispose of" with "determine" when referencing the holding in another case.

149 Idaho at 678, 239 P.3d at 783 ("In fact, *it did not determine* any of those issues. *See Thornton v. Hickox*, 126 Idaho 474, 475, 886 P.2d 779, 780 (1994) ('[T]he denial of the motion to dismiss *did not dispose of* any claim.')") (emphasis added).

Next, in *Smith v. Clyne*, the Idaho Supreme Court held that "[a] defendant, who has filed a demurrer or motion addressed to the complaint, is not in default until after such demurrer and motion are *disposed of*." 16 Idaho 466, 101 P. 819 (1909) (emphasis added); *see also*, *Culver v. Mountain Home Electric Co.*, 17 Idaho 669, 107 P. 65(1910) ("[t]he filing of a demurrer to a complaint presents an issue of law which *the court is required to decide*, and the defendant is not in default until such issue of law is *disposed of*...and it is error for the court to permit default to be entered or to enter judgment against the defendant until such demurrer is overruled.") (emphasis added).

These cases demonstrate that when in reference to a motion or issue in the case, the term "dispose of" means having the questions finally determined or decided by the court. *See also*, *Cent. Deep Creek Orchard Co. v. C.C. Taft Co.*, 34 Idaho 458, 202 P. 1062, 1064 (1921) (a special appearance presents a question of law, and the court should be required to dispose of that issue before it assumes jurisdiction); *Perry v. Perkins*, 73 Idaho 4, 12, 245 P.2d 405, 409 (1952) ("each case should be disposed of as substantial justice may seem to require."); *Philpot v. Gerard*, 88 Idaho 422, 424, 400 P.2d 383, 385 (1965) ("The court stated that the summary judgment disposed of the appellant's motion for leave to file an amended complaint.").

Where the statute is plain and unambiguous, courts are constrained to follow that plain meaning, and can neither add to nor take away language by judicial construction. *Johnson v.* 

Boundary School Dist. No. 101, 138 Idaho 331, 335, 63 P.3d 457, 461 (2003) (citing Canal/Norcrest/Columbus Action Committee v. City of Boise, 136 Idaho 666, 670, 39 P.3d 606, 610 (2011); Moon v. Investment Board, 97 Idaho 595, 596, 548 P.2d 861, 862 (1976)). In this case the district court wrongly changed the term "disposed of" to "accepted," a term not used in the statute. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 173 (citing law review article stating "it is only necessary that the petition be accepted.").

The district court further erroneously allowed IDWR to ignore the 21-day time limit for "disposing of" A&B's petition for reconsideration. The district court found the statute to be ambiguous because "reasonable minds might differ as to its interpretation." Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 171. This reasoning is in error. Although IDWR and A&B presented differing interpretations, that does not make the statute or the term "disposed of" ambiguous.

To the contrary, the Idaho Supreme Court has instructed that a statute is ambiguous when:

[T]he meaning is so doubtful or obscure that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning. However, ambiguity is not established merely because different possible interpretations are presented to a court. If this were the case then all statutes that are the subject of litigation could be considered ambiguous....

Canty v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 138 Idaho 178, 182, 59 P.3d 983, 987 (2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted) (citing Rim View Trout Co. v. Higginson, 121 Idaho 819, 823, 828 P.2d 848, 852 (1992)) (emphasis added).

The term "dispose of" does not fall within the category of having a "doubtful" or "obscure" meaning. Therefore, the district court erred in finding the statute to be ambiguous. Since the term "dispose of" in section 67-5246 is unambiguous, no statutory construction was necessary. The court was bound to follow the law as written and should have denied IDWR's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The district court had no basis to ignore the plain language of the statute and attempt to substitute a word with a different meaning. See e.g. Erickson v. Idaho Bd. of Registration of Professional Engineers and Professional Land Surveyors, 146 Idaho 852, 856, 203 P.3d 1251, 1255 (2009) (term "issuance" does not mean "service").

motion to dismiss. *See Idaho Power Co.*, 151 Idaho 266, 255 P.3d at 1158. Since A&B's petition for reconsideration was denied by operation of law on June 1<sup>st</sup>, A&B had a statutory right to appeal the Director's April 27, 2011 *Final Order*. The district court failed to properly interpret the statute and wrongly dismissed A&B's petition for judicial review. This Court should reverse the district court accordingly.

# II. The District Court's Interpretation of Section 67-5246 Does Not Follow Idaho's Canons of Statutory Construction.

Assuming for argument's sake that the term "dispose of" is ambiguous, the district court's interpretation still fails under Idaho's canons of statutory construction. First, the court's interpretation erroneously renders the 21-day timeframe irrelevant, a reading that cannot stand. Second, the court's interpretation is unreasonable when considering other sections of Idaho's APA. Consequently, the district court's analysis is erroneous and should be reversed.

# A. The District Court's Interpretation Erroneously Renders the Requirement to Decide a Petition for Reconsideration Within 21 Days Irrelevant.

Pursuant to the Idaho APA, any party aggrieved by a final agency order has the right to either ask the agency to reconsider the order or file a petition for judicial review in district court. *See* I.C. §§ 67-5246, 5270.8 Pursuant to section 67-5246, an aggrieved party knows that if he or she files a petition for reconsideration, a decision must be issued within 21 days, otherwise it is deemed denied by operation of law. *See* I.C. § 67-5246(4). Consequently, even if a petition for reconsideration is filed, <u>any</u> aggrieved party to the proceeding is assured that judicial review may be taken in a timely manner (at most after 21 days from the filing of the petition for reconsideration).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also IDAPA 37.01.01.740; 791.

Under Idaho law, when a court engages in statutory construction it has a duty to ascertain the legislative intent and give effect to that intent. *State v. Rhode*, 133 Idaho 459, 462, 988 P.2d 685, 688 (1999). Further, it is incumbent upon a court to give a statute an interpretation which will not render it a nullity. *State v. Gill*, 150 Idaho 183, 185, 244 P.3d 1269, 1271 (Ct. App. 2010).

The district court's interpretation of "disposed of" in this case erroneously renders the agency's mandatory 21-day timeframe irrelevant or a nullity. Instead of being required to decide a party's petition, the district court's interpretation allows the agency to merely "accept" it, and then issue a decision at some unknown future date, with absolutely no deadline. This interpretation clearly does not follow the statute's mandate requiring the agency to finally act within 21 days. Accordingly, the court's interpretation cannot be upheld.

Moreover, if state agencies were allowed to give themselves an indeterminate amount of time to decide the merits, it creates uncertainty and a disincentive to file a petition for reconsideration in the first place. As noted by the district court, the agency should be given the first opportunity to correct its possible errors. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 160. Ironically, the district court's reasoning would have the opposite effect on parties to administrative cases—especially considering that section 67-5246(5) allows for the final order to become effective while the agency head is further considering the petition's merits.

If an adverse decision is rendered, state law allows a party to seek timely judicial review (within 28 days from the issuance of the final order, or 28 days after a decision on a petition for reconsideration). If the agency is not required to decide a petition for reconsideration by a certain deadline, as suggested by the district court, the agency could prevent timely judicial review for an indefinite period of time. Consequently, the judiciary would become the first

forum of choice to timely cure agency errors, and petitions for reconsiderations would all but cease to exist if no firm timeline governed the agency's actions on such petitions.

This result does not follow the legislature's intent or the 21-day timeframe set forth in the statute. Accordingly, the district court's interpretation is erroneous as a matter of law and should be reversed.

# B. The District Court's Interpretation is Unreasonable When Read Together With Other Sections of Idaho's APA.

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