# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-17-2012

# A & B Irr. Dist. V. IDWR Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39196

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Professor Dale Goble of the University of Idaho College of Law and Deputy Attorney General Michael Gilmore are recognized authorities on the APA. They were both intimately involved in the substantial overhaul of the APA that took place in 1993. Professor Goble was the primary drafter of the APA and was the one that provided explanatory comments explaining how the APA would function. Larry Echohawk, *Introduction to Administrative Procedure Act Issue*, 30 Idaho L. Rev. 261 (1993). Mr. Gilmore participated in the drafting of the APA and also drafted the model rules of practice for the Idaho Attorney General's office. *Id*.

The principles behind this interpretation are clear. Administrative agencies should be provided the opportunity correct alleged errors in its orders. As articulated by Gilmore and Goble:

An important principle of administrative law is that the agency should be given the first opportunity to correct its possible errors. The APA's provisions for contested cases incorporate this principle by explicitly authorizing petitions for reconsideration. Regardless of the kind of order, the presiding officer has authority to entertain petitions for reconsideration of the order if the petition is filed within fourteen days of the issuance of the order. While the filing of a petition for reconsideration is not a prerequisite to administrative or judicial review of the order, the officer who issued the order will have greater familiarity with the factual and legal issues than will other potential decisionmakers. It is therefore far more efficient for all parties to have that officer reconsider the order, particularly when minor or technical problems arise.

30 Idaho L. Rev. at 328-29.

A&B's interpretation would frustrate the purpose for encouraging an agency to reconsider its decision. Having time to properly evaluate and address issues raised by a party in a petition for reconsideration is important. As recognized by the district court, petitions for reconsideration vary widely in their content, form, and substance. (R. Vol. I, p. 172.) Some petitions for reconsideration are easily addressed, while others, like the broad reaching petition in this case, are not. *Id.* Of course, this cannot be known until the petition for reconsideration is filed and reviewed by the agency. In the case of a complex petition for reconsideration, A&B's short twenty-one day "one size fits all" approach would prevent an agency, for lack of time, from requesting additional hearings, briefing, oral argument, or taking the necessary amount of time to properly respond. 30 Idaho L. Rev. at 329. A&B's interpretation would foster litigation and interfere with judicial economy as agencies would not have time to correct errors in complex proceeding.

The fact that Idaho Code § 67-5246(4) uses the term "written order disposing of" in its construction and did not say that the Director must issue a final decision on the merits within the twenty-one day period is important. *Contrast* Idaho Code § 67-5246(4) with Idaho Code § 61-626(2) (the Public Utilities Commission, upon granting a petition for reconsideration, must rehear the matter within thirteen weeks and must issue a decision within 28 days after the matter is finally submitted for reconsideration). The phrase "written order disposing of" provides agencies with the necessary flexibility to properly analyze and respond to the myriad petitions for reconsideration they face.

The practical effect of this is evident in this case. Here, A&B's Petition "raised numerous technical issues with the *Final Order on Remand* that deserved the Department's full attention and thorough analysis. This required a detailed investigation of facts from the large and complex administrative record." (R. Vol. I, p. 145.) The result was a thorough evaluation of the "errors" alleged by A&B in its petition for reconsideration and resulted in the Director adding significant additional analysis into his June 30, 2011 *Amended Final Order*, evidenced by the fact that the new analysis added 13 pages to the *Amended Final Order*, bringing it to a total length of 35 pages. (R. Vol. I, pp. 48-101.) This considered evaluation of the original order was the appropriate response to A&B's petition.

A&B's interpretation would have forced the Director to issue a partially considered decision. Instead of allowing the Director to address the alleged errors in the first instance, A&B's approach would lead to a potential remand to do exactly what the Director did in this

proceeding – issued a thoroughly considered opinion. A&B's interpretation only serves to limit informed decision making and foster additional litigation.<sup>6</sup>

A&B attempts to create ambiguity where none exists in the statute based upon by citation to cases where the phrase "dispose of" or some variation of the phrase appears. An examination of the cited cases, however, shows that they are not interpreting the term in the context of the APA and that they are therefore distinguishable. For example, Evans State Bank v. Skeen, 30 Idaho 703, 167 P. 1165 (1917) examined the statutory definition of the term "final judgment" not the term "dispose of" in an entirely different statutory setting. Skeen appealed a district court order appointing a receiver of mortgaged personal property, an order overruling a motion to vacate the receivership, and an order directing the sale of the property. Evans State Bank moved to dismiss on the grounds that the orders were not final judgments. The Court explained that the right to appeal was statutory and reviewed the statutory definition, concluding that "[a]n examination of [the applicable statute] discloses that no appeal has been provided for from an order appointing a receiver" or the other orders. Evans State Bank, 30 Idaho at 705, 167 P. at 1166. While the Court did use the term "disposes of" and discussed a final determination by the district court, the Court did not define the words. The reference to a final determination of litigation had more to do with the fact that the Court was evaluating final orders. The question presented in Evan State Bank was which district court orders were appealable pursuant to statute.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A&B's argument that the district court's interpretation would cause petitions for reconsideration to "all but cease to exist" does not hold up. *Opening Brief* at 11. If a party is aware of an error in an agency's decision, the party should want to resolve it on reconsideration before the agency because if the matter is appealed to district court and the district court agrees that an error did occur, the matter would likely be remanded back to the agency to correct. A petition for reconsideration encourages judicial economy by allowing the agency the opportunity to correct the alleged error in the first instance, thereby saving the time it takes to appeal to district court.

Applying *Evans State Bank* in this case is an attempt to create a definition using a different factual scenario that did not scrutinize or analyze the term, much less scrutinize or analyze the term in the context of the APA. Put simply, the question presented in this case is not the question answered in *Evans State Bank* or the other cases cited by A&B.

2. <u>The District Court's Interpretation Does Not Render The Twenty-One Day Time</u>
Period Irrelevant or Prevent Timely Judicial Review.

A&B argues that the failure to adopt its interpretation would render the twenty-one day period in Idaho Code § 67-5246(4) irrelevant because the other interpretations "clearly do[] not follow the statue's mandate requiring the agency to finally act within 21 days." *Opening Brief* at 10. This argument is circular and assumes as a given the very question at issue.

A&B also argues that if its interpretation is not adopted, that an "agency could prevent timely judicial review for an indefinite period of time." *Id.* By suggesting that an agency will prevent timely judicial review, A&B is asking this Court to assume that an agency will not act within a reasonable time frame. As is evidenced by the actions of the Department in this case, it is not reasonable to assume that an agency will not act in a timely manner. Moreover, Idaho Code § 67-5201(3)(b) defines agency action to include "the failure to issue a rule or order," so that a party who believes that an agency has failed to timely act upon a granted petition for reconsideration may petition for judicial review from the agency action of failure to issue an order. As Gilmore and Goble explained:

Perhaps the most common situation in which finality issues arise is when an agency refuses or fails to act. When an agency is sued on the grounds that a statute requires it to do something, the most common response is that it has not as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Director's response time in this case was reasonable. The Director issued his *Amended Final Order* only 29 days after granting the petition for reconsideration. This timeframe is reasonable given the number and complexity of the issues raised by A&B in its petition and the Director's detailed response in his *Amended Final Order*.

yet completed consideration of the matter and that there is, therefore, no final agency action to review. The obvious dilemma is that inaction at some point effectively becomes a decision to deny. If there is to be meaningful judicial review of agency decisions, finality defenses must be set aside at some point. The APA recognizes this problem by specifically defining "agency action" to include "the failure to issue a rule or order ... or failure to perform, any duty placed on the agency by law."

30 Idaho L. Rev. at 349 (footnotes omitted).

Alternatively, as this Court recently pointed out in *Idaho Power Co. v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources*, if an agency unreasonably delays performance of its duties, the complaining party has remedy under Idaho Code § 7-302 and can seek a writ of mandamus to compel action by the agency. *Idaho Power Co.*, 151 Idaho at 273, 255 P.3d at 1163.

3. The District Court's Interpretation Does Not Result In Uncertainty In When An Order On Reconsideration Is Subject To Judicial Review Or When An Order On Reconsideration Becomes Effective.

A&B suggests that the district court's interpretation results in uncertainty in when an order is subject to judicial review and when it becomes effective. *Opening Brief* at 10. This is not true. A careful reading of the APA shows that there is a well defined process for determining when an order is subject to judicial review and becomes effective.

Assume, as in this case, an agency head issues a final order and then a petition for reconsideration is filed. If the agency disposes of the petition by granting the petition within twenty-one days and the agency subsequently issues an amended final order, the amended final order is considered an order on reconsideration. *See Erickson v. Idaho Bd. of Registration of Professional Engineers and Professional Land Surveyors*, 146 Idaho 852, 855-856, 203 P.3d 1251, 1254-1255 (2009) (a final order denying a petition for reconsideration is an order on

reconsideration).<sup>8</sup> Once an order on reconsideration is issued, it is subject to judicial review under Idaho Code § 67-5273(2). Erickson, 146 Idaho at 854, 203 P.3d at 1253 ("[Idaho Code § 67-5273(2)] requires that if reconsideration of the final order is sought, the petition for judicial review must be filed within twenty-eight days after the decision on reconsideration."; City of Eagle v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources, 150 Idaho 449, 452, 247 P.3d 1037, 1040 (2011). This is because Idaho Code § 67-5273(2) requires that if reconsideration of the original final order is sought, the petition for judicial review must be filed within twenty-eight days after "the decision thereon." Idaho Code § 67-5273(2). It is significant that Idaho Code § 67-5273(2) does not say that a petition for judicial review must be filed within twenty- eight days of the petition being "disposed of" but uses the different standard of "decision thereon." Evans v. Teton County, 139 Idaho 71, 78, 73 P.3d 84, 91 (2003) (statutes should be construed so that effect is given to their provisions). The fact Idaho Code §§ 67-5246(4) and 67-5273(2) use different language supports the district court's interpretation that the Department can dispose of a petition for reconsideration by granting the petition and then issue a later decision on the merits. Because the Director's Amended Final Order was clearly "the decision thereon," A&B's argument that the district court's interpretation would result in confusion about when to file a petition for judicial review is not convincing.

A&B also argues that the district court's interpretation of subsection (4) of Idaho Code § 67-5246 cannot be reconciled with subsection (5) and would result in confusion about the

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> While the administrative agency in *Erickson* issued an order denying a petition for reconsideration and, in this case, the Director granted the petition for reconsideration and subsequently issued his amended final order, it does not change the analysis here. The amended final order was still a decision on reconsideration and subject to judicial review under 67-5273(2) under the Court's reasoning in *Erickson*.

effective date of an order on reconsideration. Opening Brief at 9. Contrary to A&B's argument, there is no conflict between subsections (4) and (5) under the district court's interpretation, and there is no confusion about the effective date of an order on reconsideration.

Idaho Code § 67-5246(5) addresses the effective date of a final order. This subsection provides, in relevant part, that "[u]nless a different date is stated in a final order, the order is effective fourteen (14) days after its service date if a party has not filed a petition for reconsideration."

In this case, the Director issued his *Amended Final Order* on June 30, 2011. As discussed above, the *Amended Final Order* is an order on reconsideration and a petition for judicial review must be filed within twenty-eight days of its service. *Erickson*, 146 Idaho at 854, 203 P.3d at 1253. The APA does not provide for a petition for reconsideration of an order on reconsideration, instead making it subject to a petition for judicial review within twenty-eight days of its service. *Id.* Because there can be no petition for reconsideration filed against an order on reconsideration, an order on reconsideration is effective fourteen days after its service. Idaho Code § 67-5246(5). A careful analysis of Idaho Code §§ 67-5246 and 67-5273 shows that there is an orderly and defined path for when an order on reconsideration becomes effective and is subject to a petition for judicial review. In this case, the Director's *Amended Final Order* became effective fourteen days after its service.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Effectiveness and appealability (i.e. being subject to judicial review) are distinct concepts.

4. The District Court's Interpretation Is Consistent With The Department's Rules Of Procedure.

A&B argues that the district court's interpretation is inconsistent with the Department's rules of procedures. *Opening Brief* at 3. This is not correct.

The Department's rules of procedure for contested cases are found at IDAPA 37.01.01. *et seq.* IDAPA 37.01.01.740 outlines the information that must accompany a final order issued by the Department and sets forth the Department's understanding of the time frame for a party to appeal a final order of the Department. This rule provides that an appeal must be filed within twenty-eight days:

(a) of the service date of this final order, (b) of an order denying petition for reconsideration, or (c) [of] [sic] the failure within twenty-one (21) days to grant or deny a petition for reconsideration, whichever is later.

IDAPA 37.01.01.740.02.d. This language confirms the Department's interpretation of how the petition for reconsideration process and the judicial review process works and is consistent with the Department's interpretation of Idaho Code § 67-5246. If a final order is issued, there are three different deadlines to file an appeal. Under subsection (a) of IDAPA 37.01.01.740.02.d., an appeal is due within 28 days of the service date of the final order if no petition for reconsideration is filed. Under subsection (b), an appeal is due twenty-eight days after an order denying petition for reconsideration. Under subsection (c), an appeal is due within twenty-eight days of the failure of the Department to "grant or deny" a petition for reconsideration with twenty-one days of service of the petition.

It is this last subsection (c) that is significant. The rule does not use the term "disposed of" but focuses on the "failure" to "grant or deny" the petition for reconsideration. It recognizes that if the Department grants a petition for reconsideration, it is not ripe for judicial review because an appeal is due only if the Department fails to "grant or deny" the petition. This

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